NO. 70354-4-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

YEVGENY SEMENENKO and NATALYA SEMENENKO,

Appellants

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL AND HEALTH SERVICES,

Respondents

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

APPELLANTS' CORRECTED OPENING BRIEF

Judith Lurie, WSBA #26097

NORTHWEST JUSTICE PROJECT
PO Box 3324
300 Okanogan Ave, Suite 3A
Wenatchee, Washington 98801
Tel. (509) 664-5101, ext. 113

I. INTRODUCTION

This appeal concerns the Department of Social and Health
Services' (the "Department") determination that the appellants Yevgeny
and Natalya Semenenko (the "Semenenkos") abused their seventeen yearold daughter resulting in the issuance of a formal "finding" that they
committed child abuse. The "finding" stemmed from a report of alleged
abuse from a single incident that occurred at approximately 2 a.m. on
November 10, 2009 while the Semenenkos were attempting to admit their
severely drug addicted teenage daughter into a drug treatment center.

On April 5, 2010, 146 days after the Department received the report of alleged abuse, the Department sent each of the Semenenkos a letter informing them that the Department investigated the report, and determined that the allegations were "founded" (hereinafter referred to as the "Child Abuse Determination" or "Determination").

Months later, in November, 2010, Ms. Semenenko was fired from her job as a caregiver after her employer ran a periodic background check and discovered her name on a centralized registry of abusers maintained by the Department. As a result, the Semenenkos not only lost all of the earnings previously provided by Ms. Semenenko's caregiver job, but also the healthcare insurance that had previously covered the family of five.

Ms. Semenenko will no longer be able to work as a caregiver, and both

Mr. and Ms. Semenenko have been permanently stigmatized as child abusers.

After being fired, the Semenenkos sought administrative review of the April 5th Child Abuse Determination, but were denied a hearing because more than 20 days had elapsed from the time they received their respective Child Abuse Determination letters, and the time they sought review.

The Semenenkos argue in this appeal that: (a) the Department's Child Abuse Determination was void because it was issued more than 90 days after the Department received the report of alleged child abuse; (b) the Department is equitably estopped from enforcing the 20-day limit on seeking review because the Semenenkos justifiably relied on the assurances of the Department employee who told them that their case had been closed and it was therefore not necessary to file an appeal; (c) the Semenenkos had "good cause" to file their request for review more than 20 days after receiving the April 5th Child Abuse Determination; and (d) the King County Superior Court erred by dismissing the Semenenkos' appeal without reviewing the administrative record.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

The trial court erred when it entered an order of dismissal on April 16, 2013, finding that it lacked subject matter jurisdiction because the

Semenenkos had failed to request an internal review of a founded report of child abuse within 30 [sic] days after being notified of the Child Abuse

Determination.

1

III. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- A. Was the Department's Child Abuse Determination void because it was made more than 90 days after the Department received the report of alleged abuse? Yes.
- B. Is the Department equitably estopped from enforcing the 20-day limit on filing a request for internal review? Yes.
- C. Did the Semenenkos have "good cause" to file their appeal more than 20 days after receiving the Child Abuse Determination letter? Yes.
- D. Did the King County Superior Court err by dismissing the Semenenkos' appeal without reviewing the administrative record? Yes.

IV. STATEMENTS OF THE CASE

A. Procedural Background

On April 5, 2010 the Department issued two identical letters to Yevgeny and Natalya Semenenko notifying each of them that the Department received a report alleging they had engaged in abuse or neglect of a child on November 10, 2009, and informing the Semenenkos that "CPS investigated this report…and has found that the alleged abuse or

¹ At the time the Semenenkos' Determination letters were issued, persons who the Department found to be alleged perpetrators of child abuse or neglect could request internal review of the determination within 20 days, and an administrative hearing within 30 days after completion of the administrative review. In 2012 the legislature changed the time period in which to request the internal review to 30 days.

neglect occurred." (CP 18, 92.) On March 25, 2011, Mr. and Ms.

Semenenko requested review of the CPS Determination. (CP 19, 106-107.)

The Department denied the Semenenkos' request for review of the Child Abuse Determination based on their failure to have appealed within 20 days of receiving written notice from the Department. (CP 19, 106-107.) The Semenenkos then filed a request for an administrative hearing to challenge the Determinations. (CP 19, 78.) On October 5, 2011, the Administrative Law Judge granted the Department's Motion to Dismiss based on the Semenenkos' failure to request a review within 20 days of receiving the notices. (CP 20, 77-81.) That decision was affirmed by the Department's Board of Appeals on May 10, 2012 (CP 20, 66-70), and again by the King County Superior Court on April 16, 2013, each time on the same grounds: the failure of the Semenenkos' to have sought administrative review within 20 days of receipt of the notice. (CP 39.)

B. Factual Background

The Semenenkos

Yevgeny and Natalya Semenenko immigrated from Estonia and the Ukraine, respectively, to the United States in 1989. English is their second language. They speak English conversationally, but have difficulty understanding sophisticated concepts and legal language in English. (CP 14, 24.) They have three daughters. Letitciya is their youngest.

The alleged incident of abuse

On April 5, 2010 the Department's division of Child Protective Services (CPS) issued a letter to each of the Semenenkos informing them that they had investigated the report of alleged child abuse, and determined that the report was "founded." (CP 4, 92.) The determination was made based on a video taken on November 10, 2009, at approximately 2 a.m. (CP 61.) The events are described at CP 61-62. The Semenenkos had been struggling since 2004 to help their severely drug addicted daughter, Letitciya. They had reached out to drug rehabilitation clinics, churches, hospitals, the police and their daughter's school in search of help. (CP 61, 63.) Letitciya was chemically dependent on a number of drugs, and her parents had been trying "everything to save her life." (CP 75, 86.)

Finally, with the help of a counselor, their daughter agreed to enter a drug rehabilitation program. For 13 hours before being admitted, however, she went on a binge. Without her parents' permission she took the family car, stole jewelry and money which she used to buy drugs, and put large amounts of drugs into her system. Her parents transported her to

the rehabilitation facility. On the way, Letitciya asked to stop multiple times, allegedly for bathroom breaks. But instead, she used the opportunity to put more drugs into her system. (CP 61.)

When the Semenenkos and their daughter arrived at the rehabilitation center between 2:00 and 3:00 a.m. to admit their daughter, she already had a significant amount of drugs in her system. She went into the bathroom and locked the door. The Semenenkos asked her repeatedly to come out and sign the admission paperwork. She refused. After approximately one hour, Letitciya opened the bathroom door. The Semenenkos saw illegal intravenous drugs on the bathroom counter, and "fear[ing] for her life" the Semenenkos tried to intervene. (CP 61.) They were afraid she "was going to overdose on drugs and die right there in the detox center." (CP 15.) They asked the clerk at the rehabilitation center to call 911 or help in some way, but got no reaction. (CP 24.) Together Mr. and Ms. Semenenko removed their daughter from the bathroom, and Mr. Semenenko cleared the drugs from the bathroom counter. Letitciya tried to re-enter the bathroom, but her parents blocked her. Their daughter was heavily drugged by this point, and fell to the ground. Letitciya was under the influence of such a large quantity of drugs at this point, that she could not even find the door to exit the facility. (CP 61-62.) The Department received a report of alleged abuse on or around November 10, 2009.

The Department's follow-up to the report of alleged abuse: Case Closed.

In response to the report of alleged abuse, the Department sent a social worker to the Semenenkos' home. The social worker visited the home on two or more occasions and the Semenenkos had multiple conversations with the Department about the report of alleged abuse. (CP 33-34.) At the conclusion, the CPS worker told the Semenenkos that they shouldn't worry, that the case was being closed, and that all issues had been resolved. (CP 34.) This was confirmed when, less than a month after the report of alleged abuse, the Semenenkos received a letter from the Department dated December 3, 2009 confirming that their case had been closed. The letter recommended that the family continue to attempt to admit their daughter to an in-patient treatment facility, and that they attend support groups and classes regarding drug addiction. (CP 88.)

There was no indication of any kind in the case closure notice that the Semenenkos had been determined to have abused their daughter, that they needed to receive counseling or treatment as child abusers, or that there was another case still pending in the Department which was investigating the incident. (CP 88.)

The Department's Determination of Child Abuse was made 146 days after receiving the report of alleged abuse

Four months after being told that their case had been closed, that there was nothing to worry about, and that everything had been resolved; after having zero contact with the Department since receiving the December 3, 2009 case closure notice; and 146 days after the report of alleged abuse was made (CP 92, 96), the Semenenkos received a notice from the Department that confused them.

The notices (one sent to Mr. Semenenko and the other to Ms. Semenenko) were dated April 5, 2010. (CP 92-99.) They are each four pages in length, and said:

a. the Department received a report of alleged abuse or neglect on November 10, 2009, investigated the report, and determined that the abuse or neglect occurred;

b. the investigation showed that the allegations were "founded." "Founded" means it was more likely than not that the abuse or neglect occurred and you were responsible for it;

c. the Department keeps information about "founded CPS reports" in its computer system, but this information "is confidential and cannot be released to the public."

d. the information can be released if authorized by law or court order and may be released for purposes of determining if you can be licensed or employed to provide care for children or vulnerable adults.

Letitciya was with the Semenenkos when they received the April 5, 2010 notices. All three of them were confused and upset. (CP 9, 15, 34.) They had received a letter four months earlier telling them their case had been closed, and, essentially, to keep up the good work (they had already been trying to get their child admitted into a treatment center, and had already been seeking out services wherever they could.) The daughter spoke better English than her parents, so in the presence of her parents, she called the Department and spoke with a CPS employee there. The daughter explained the situation, told the CPS worker that her parents never abused her, and asked what to do and how to correct the error. (CP 9, 34.)

The Department employee told the daughter that since the case was closed, the April 5, 2010 letter must be a mistake, and not to worry about it. (CP 9, 15, 34.) The Department employee, "didn't give [the Semenenkos] any other advice. She didn't advise [them] to respond, to call anyone else or to verify whether the letter was indeed a mistake. She just told [the Semenenkos] not to worry about it." (CP 34.)

In reliance on this advice, the Semenenkos did not seek review of the Child Abuse Determination. (CP 18.)

The loss of Ms. Semenenko's job and the family's health insurance as a result of the Child Abuse Determination.

Despite the confusing statement contained in the Department's April 5, 2010 letter, the fact that the Semenenkos had been found to have engaged in child abuse was not kept confidential. To the contrary, over 300,000 times per year the Department shares information about individuals found to have engaged in child abuse or neglect by processing requests for background checks.² The Department has a "Background Check Central Unit" ("BCCU") that manages a central database to search and track department-wide background check information, including negative actions issued by CPS.³ Any authorized entity may request a background check, including service providers, licensees, contractors, or other public or private agencies that have permission. This includes private businesses and organizations providing services to children, developmentally disabled persons, or vulnerable adults. WAC 388-06-0700, 0710; RCW 43.43.832.

As a result of the Semenenkos' failure to seek review of the Child Abuse Determination, it became final by default, and the Department

² See App. A, "Background Check Central Unit," DSHS website at http://dshs.wa.gov/bccu/ See also WAC 388-06-0700 et seq. ³ Id.

placed the Semenenkos' names on the registry of child abusers. Ms.

Semenenko worked at "ResCare" as a caregiver for elderly people. (CP 15.) When Ms. Semenenko's employer ran a routine background check roughly a year after the incident at the rehab center, the employer discovered Ms. Semenenko's name on this registry. (CP 11.) As a result, in November, 2010 Ms. Semenenko was fired, which resulted not only in loss of income, but also the loss of health insurance for their family of five. (CP 62.) The Semenenkos are also now stigmatized as child abusers.

The King County Superior Court's dismissal of the Semenenkos' appeal in the absence of the administrative record

Upon filing of the Semenenkos' Petition for Judicial Review of the agency decision in King County Superior Court, the Department's Board of Appeals notified the parties that a certified copy of the original adjudicative proceeding (the "AR"), was sent to the King County Superior Court for filing. The AR never, however, became part of the King County Superior Court record. The King County Superior Court Clerk's Office has never been able to locate the original AR, and reports that they never received it. (Stipulation of Counsel, CP 51.) There is no evidence of record that the trial court considered the AR in rendering the decision now on appeal before this Court. The Semenenkos and their attorney in Superior Court were not aware that the trial judge did not have the record

before him when he made the decision to dismiss the case. The Assistant Attorney General representing the Department was also unaware of the absence of the AR, as she repeatedly cited to the AR in her brief. (CP 18-22.) The judge never mentioned that he did not have the AR before him at the time of the hearing on the Department's Motion to Dismiss. (RP, pp. 8-20.)

V. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

Judicial review of administrative agency orders are governed by the Administrative Procedure Act (APA). *Hardee v. State of Washington, Dep't of Soc. & Health Serv.*, 172 Wn.2d 1, 6, 256 P.3d 339 (2011). The APA provides nine grounds for challenging an agency decision, including:

- (b) The order is outside the statutory authority or jurisdiction of the agency conferred by any provision of law;
- (c) The agency has engaged in unlawful procedure or decision-making process, or has failed to follow a prescribed procedure;
- (d) The agency has erroneously interpreted or applied the law;
- (e) The order is not supported by evidence that is substantial when viewed in light of the whole record before the court, which includes the agency record for judicial review, supplemented by any additional evidence received by the court under this chapter;

RCW 34.05.570(3). The party challenging the validity of agency action has the burden of demonstrating its invalidity. RCW 34.05.570(1)(a). This court stands in the same position as the trial court when reviewing an administrative agency decision. *Hardee*, 172 Wn.2d at 6.

The issues raised in this appeal involve whether the agency decision is void as a matter of law under the application of a clear and unambiguous statutory time limit, the application of the doctrine of equitable estoppel to the agency's denial of administrative review, and the failure of the trial court to rely on the administrative record as a whole. Each of these issues raise questions of law or mixed questions of law and fact, all of which are subject to the "error of law" standard of *de novo* review under the APA. *City of Seattle v. Public Employment Relations Comm.*, 160 Wn. App. 382, 388, 249 P.3d 650 (2011).

B. The Child Abuse Determinations issued to the Semenenkos are void as a matter of law because the Department issued them more than 90 days after receiving the report of alleged abuse.

As of April 5, 2011, the Department had no authority whatsoever to issue the Child Abuse Determinations concerning the Semenenkos. The legislature granted the Department authority to investigate reports of alleged abuse and neglect, and to determine whether those allegations are founded or unfounded. RCW 26.44.010, RCW 26.44.030. The legislature put limits on the Department's authority, however, and mandated that the Department complete its investigations of reports of alleged abuse within 90 days. RCW 26.44.030 governs the Department's conduct of investigations, and provides:

For reports of alleged abuse or neglect that are accepted for investigation by the department, the investigation shall be conducted within time frames established by the department in rule. In no case shall the investigation extend longer than ninety days from the date the report is received, unless the investigation is being conducted under a written protocol pursuant to RCW 26.44.180 and a law enforcement agency or prosecuting attorney has determined that a longer investigation period is necessary. At the completion of the investigation, the department shall make a finding that the report of child abuse or neglect is founded or unfounded.

RCW 26.44.030(11)(a) (emphasis added.) In turn, the Department promulgated a rule that expresses the intent to complete investigations of child abuse within 45 days. Like the statute, the Department's rule states that, "in no case shall the investigation extend beyond 90 days..." WAC 388-15-021(7). CPS has a duty to notify the alleged child abuser in writing of any "finding made by CPS in any investigation of suspected child abuse and/or neglect." WAC 388-15-065. CPS satisfies this duty by mailing the CPS finding notice to the alleged perpetrator. WAC 388-15-069.

While the statute and regulation both allow one exception under which the Department may extend its investigation beyond 90 days, the facts of the Semenenko investigation do not fall within the exception.⁴

⁴ Investigations may only extend beyond 90 days if they (1) involve allegations of child sexual abuse; and (2) they are being conducted pursuant to a local written protocol; and (3) if law enforcement or the prosecuting attorney has determined that a longer investigation period is necessary. RCW

The time limit in which the Department must render a finding or close the case (as unfounded) is consistent with the statute's explicit emphasis on the protection of the due process rights of parents in the course of investigations of child abuse:

[P]arents and children often are not aware of their due process rights when agencies are investigating allegations of child abuse and neglect. The legislature reaffirms that all citizens, including parents, shall be afforded due process, that protection of children remains the priority of the legislature, and that this protection includes protecting the family unit from unnecessary disruption.

RCW 26.44.100(1).

The 90 day limit is also consistent with the overall legislative purpose of Title 26.44.

The Washington state legislature finds and declares: The bond between a child and his or her parent, custodian, or guardian is of paramount importance, and any intervention into the life of a child is also an intervention into the life of the parent, custodian, or guardian; ... Reports of child abuse and neglect shall be maintained and disseminated with strictest regard for the privacy of the subjects of such reports and so as to safeguard against arbitrary, malicious or erroneous information or actions.

RCW 26.44.010.

The limitation on investigations regarding abuse and neglect is consistent too with the constitutional rights of parents. One of the "oldest of the fundamental liberty rights" recognized by the United States

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