NO. 70354-4-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON Department Of Social And Health Services,

Respondent,

v.

YEVGENY SEMENENKO and NATALYA SEMENENKO,

Appellants.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

PATRICIA L. ALLEN Assistant Attorney General WSBA No. 27109 800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104-3188 (206) 464-7045 Office ID Number 91016 9

ORIGINAL

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

V. ARGUMENT

A. RCW 26.44.125(2) Requires Dismissal Of This Case

Appellants have, at each stage of review, attempted to argue the timing and underlying facts of the founded findings against them, while the only issue of import in this case is whether the passage of more than 21 days since they received their notice without a review request precludes all further efforts at review in any forum, as stated in RCW 26.44.125(2).

It is undisputed that Mr. and Ms. Semenenko received their findings letters and understood that the letters contained negative assertions against them. AR 6, 12, 19, 36-45; AB at 1-2. It is also undisputed that they did not file a request for hearing regarding these founded findings within 20 days of receipt. *Id*.

The essential facts that require dismissal on summary judgment are not and cannot be disputed: both of the appellants have founded findings of negligent treatment/maltreatment not timely responded to and now final. AR 6, 12, 19, 36-45, 49-51; RCW 26.44.125(3). Once those facts are ascertained, the result is inevitable. RCW 26.44.125(3); WAC 388-15-0089(1). No material facts are in dispute here. The disagreements Mr.

and Ms. Semenenko have with the timing of and reasons for their founded findings are not material facts, and do not require judicial review or remand for further hearing.

B. "Good Cause" Does Not Apply To Securing Rights To Administrative Adjudication Under RCW 26.44.125.

RCW 26.44.125(3)(1998)⁵ specifically states that if the alleged perpetrator does not request review of the founded finding of child abuse and neglect within twenty days of the department providing notice of the finding, the alleged perpetrator "may not further challenge the finding and shall have no right to agency review or to an adjudicative hearing or judicial review of the finding." WAC 388-15-089, consistent with RCW 26.44.125, states that if the alleged perpetrator does not submit a timely written request for CPS to review the founded finding, "no further review or challenge of the finding may occur." There is no provision for waiver of these requirements even if "good cause" is shown.

Appellants appear to have plucked the good cause definition from WAC 388-02-0020 and presumed it applied to these proceedings. AB at 22-24. Appellants have not and cannot show that this definition has any bearing on whether or not a party has secured a right to hearing through

⁵ The statute was amended in 2012 to change the time limit for a hearing request to 30 days and to allow an exception if the Department did not comply with notice requirements. Neither amendment is at issue here, when receipt of the notice is not contested and there was no hearing request for far longer than even 30 days after receipt. Appellants attempt to incorporate the 90 day investigation timeline into notice, but have no legal basis for doing so. AB at 23.

the DSHS administrative process, having done nothing more than cite the definitional section of a WAC chapter that relates to administrative hearings held for those who have successfully obtained a right to hearing. In this case, the only potentially applicable section of WAC Chapter 388-02 is WAC 388-02-0085, which explains when a person may have a right to hearing through DSHS process. The regulation clearly explains that:

- (1) You have a right to a hearing only if a law or DSHS rule gives you that right. If you are not sure, you should request a hearing to protect your right.
- (2) Some DSHS programs may require you to go through an informal administrative process before you can request or have a hearing. The notice of DSHS action sent to you should include information about this requirement if it applies.
- (3) You have a limited time to request a hearing. The deadline for your request varies by the DSHS program involved. You should submit your request right away to protect your right to a hearing, even if you are also trying to resolve your dispute informally. ...

WAC 388-02-0085(1)-(3) (emphasis added)

As can be readily observed, this regulation makes no exception for "good cause," which is used in other regulations to give participants in an administrative hearing certain rights to proceed even when a mistake in process has been made, *e.g.* WAC 388-02-0305(2) (appellants may have a hearing that was dismissed for failure to appear reinstated if they show good cause for not appearing).

Nowhere in the entirety of WAC Chapter 388-02 does it state that a person who does not successfully comply with the requirements of RCW 26.44.125 and WAC 388-15-089 may obtain a hearing by showing good cause for delay. In fact, as shown by WAC 388-02-0085, appellants are specifically warned by the regulations that deadlines for requesting a hearing can impact hearing rights, that they vary by program, and that any uncertainty should be resolved in favor of timely requesting a hearing.

Mr. and Ms. Semenenko chose to not request a hearing, based on third hand information from an unknown source. This does not meet the requirements of RCW 26.44.125 and WAC 388-15-089. They have no right to a hearing whether or not their reliance on this third hand information could be considered good cause not to follow the directions in their notices of founded finding. The agency was correct in concluding that there was no specific statutory authority or a department rule that would allow it to find that there was good cause for filing a late request for an administrative hearing.

Both RCW 26.44.125 and WAC 388-15-089 promote the preference for finality of agency decisions and orders. The Department would be unduly prejudiced and burdened if it were required to prove, four years later, that the finding of child abuse was in fact a founded finding. This would be a reasonable and justified requirement if the Department had ignored its statutory obligation to provide notice of the finding and an opportunity for review. That is not the case here. Mr. and Ms. Semenenko had all the tools necessary within the notices they received to successfully challenge their founded findings. They did not,

and by operation of RCW 26.44.125 and WAC 388-15-089, their findings are final.

C. Equitable Estoppel Cannot Be Applied To Alleged Anonymous Statements To Third Parties

Appellants claim that they were told by DSHS that they should not worry about the notice of founded finding they had each received because their case with the Department had been previously closed. AB at 20. They assert that this statement was sufficient to induce reasonable reliance on their part and thus implicate the doctrine of equitable estoppel. Appellants mischaracterize the alleged Department statement in a number of ways such that their attempt to invoke equitable estoppel must fail.

When equitable estoppel is asserted against the government, the party asserting estoppel must establish five elements by clear, cogent, and convincing evidence: (1) a statement, admission, or act by the party to be estopped, which is inconsistent with its later claims, (2) the asserting party acted in reliance upon the statement or action, (3) injury would result to the asserting party if the other party were allowed to repudiate its prior statement or action, (4) estoppel is "necessary to prevent a manifest injustice," and (5) estoppel will not impair governmental functions.

Silverstreak v. Dep't of Labor & Ind., 159 Wn.2d 868, 887, 154 P.3d 891 (2007) (citing Kramarevcky v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs., 122 Wn.2d 738, 743, 863 P.2d 535 (1993).

1. There Is No Statement By DSHS On Which The Semenenkos Could Have Relied To Trigger Equitable Estoppel

In this case, appellants can meet none of the five elements required to show equitable estoppel against the state. First, they are unable to even show a statement by DSHS inconsistent with a later position. Their assertion that someone at the agency told their daughter not to worry about the founded findings issued is, even if taken at face value, far too vague to support an equitable estoppel claim. Appellants have no information as to who the speaker was or whether they had authority to speak on behalf of DSHS in the matter of the founded findings. Calling a random DSHS employee, through a third party, and getting their opinion is not the same as obtaining a binding statement from a speaking agent. Without information appellants do not possess, there can be no showing of a statement from DSHS upon which to rely, and the equitable estoppel claim is finished. Silverstreak, 159 Wn.2d at 887.

2. Even If There Was A Properly Attributed DSHS Statement, The Semenenkos Did Not Justifiably Rely On What Their Daughter Told Them The Department Said

Appellants are equally challenged in meeting the second part of the equitable estoppel test, which is that they justifiably relied on a statement by DSHS. *Id.* Even if the words of a nameless DSHS employee to their

daughter could be considered a binding statement to the appellants themselves, any reliance by the Semenenkos on this statement was not justified.

As admitted in appellants' briefing, the earlier case closure notice they received from DSHS made no statement about any finding on investigation, and thus had no bearing on a later investigative conclusion. AB at 7. When the Semenenkos did receive their founded finding letters, they received clear instructions on how to challenge those findings. Instead, they had another individual place a call and then went with that person's suggestions, supposedly relayed from the unknown DSHS employee who answered the phone. AB at 9-10. This is not reasonable in the face of a written notice with explicit instructions for challenge that were not followed.

Appellants would not be entitled to the protections of equitable estoppel even if a DSHS speaking agent could be confirmed to have given them this questionable advice. They did not justifiably rely on unattributed hearsay from their daughter.

3. Any Injury To Appellants In This Case Is From Their Failure To Timely Request Review, Not From The Department's Alleged Statements

Mr. and Ms. Semenenko would have a potential injury from the founded finding, but not from allowing DSHS to repudiate a former statement. As noted above, the written statements in this case were consistent in requiring the Semenenkos to appeal if they wanted to challenge the founded finding. The alleged oral statement from an unknown DSHS employee is not properly before this court and cannot be considered without more information that is not available. Mr. and Ms. Semenenko cannot meet the third element of equitable estoppel and are not entitled to relief from the filing requirements of RCW 26.44.125(3) on that basis.

4. There Is No Manifest Injustice To Appellants In Expecting Them To Comply With Reasonable Written Instructions For Requesting Review Of A Founded Finding

As appellants are unable to meet the general requirements of equitable estoppel, they are likewise unable to meet the specific requirements of the doctrine when it is sought against a governmental entity. There is no manifest injustice to Mr. and Ms. Semenenko in DSHS's reliance on their practice, correct per statute, of serving notice and requiring a hearing request within a time set by statute to afford review. RCW 26.44.125(3). While it may be frustrating to appellants that they have lost their opportunity to challenge the founded finding through their own inaction, they have no right to a waiver of jurisdictional

requirements, but only the right to seek a hearing. That was not done here, and the Semenenkos can show no manifest injustice based on the standard procedure followed by DSHS.

5. A Finding Of Equitable Estoppel Against DSHS For Anonymous Statements Attributed To The Agency Through The Assertions Of Third Parties Would Impair Governmental Functions

Finally, Mr. and Ms. Semenenko are unable to show that applying equitable estoppel, were it appropriate to do so on these facts, would not impair the exercise of governmental functions. DSHS relies on RCW 26.44.125 to provide for closure in the large number of cases which do not result in a request for review, and to provide procedural guidance and jurisdiction for review in those cases where there is a request for review. Application of equitable estoppel would apply to a large number of cases handled by DSHS and would impede the ability of that agency to reliably know when an agency action is complete and to act accordingly. This element of collateral estoppel has not been met.

Because appellants have not proven the elements of the doctrine, their request for relief under this theory should be denied. The summary judgment granted to the Department at every level of review to date should not be reversed by this court on an equitable estoppel theory with no basis in law or fact.

D. Child Abuse/Neglect Allegations Do Not Have An Expiration Date Based On The Legislative Goal Of Completing Investigations Within 90 Days

In 2007, RCW 26.44.030 was amended to require CPS investigations to be conducted in timeframes established by the department in rule. RCW 26.44.030(11)(a). The CPS investigation is not to extend beyond ninety (90) days. Id. WAC 388-15-021 was amended in 2009 to establish that CPS attempts to complete investigations within forty-five (45) days and that the investigation shall not extend beyond 90 WAC 388-021(7). However, neither the statute nor the rule provides authority for the request to dismiss the founded finding because CPS concluded its investigation after 90 days. Even where a CPS investigation exceeds 90 days, the relief available to the subject of a founded finding is notice and an opportunity to be heard. Appellants in this case were provided notice of the founded finding pursuant to RCW 26.44.100, and they had every opportunity granted to any subject to challenge their findings. That they did not do so has profound implications for them personally, but it does not trigger any theoretical opportunity to void founded findings based on a limit in statute with no corresponding remedy beyond the typical hearing rights provided in the same statutory scheme.

1. The 90 Day Limit On Investigation Is Directory, Not Mandatory, Because There Is No Mechanism For Enforcement

While the 90 day requirement of RCW 26.44.030(11)(a) is couched in terms that are often considered mandatory, "in no case shall the investigation extend longer than ninety days from the date the report is received...," case law indicates that the word "shall" is not always mandatory, especially where there is no enforcement mechanism for agency non-compliance. In *State v. Rice*, 174 Wn.2d 884, 896-897, 279 P.3d 849 (2012), the court set forth a helpful summary of statutory analysis regarding the use of mandatory versus directive language:

This court recognized long ago that "[t]he words 'may' and 'shall' [are] used according to the context and intent found in the statute, and are frequently construed interchangeably." Clancy v. McElroy, 30 Wash. 567, 568-69, 70 P. 1095 (1902); see also Niichel, 97 Wn.2d at 625, 627 (use of "shall" in specifying the timing of assessment procedures found to be directory); Spokane County ex rel. Sullivan v. Glover, 2 Wn.2d 162, 169, 97 P.2d 628 (1940) ("In our own tax code, the word 'shall' is used in almost every section, and it is apparent that it is employed indiscriminately in both the imperative and the permissive sense."). In determining whether "shall" is mandatory, directory, or simply permissive in any given instance, we consider "all the terms and provisions of the act in relation to the subject of the legislation, the nature of the act, the general object to be accomplished and consequences that would result from construing the particular statute in one way or another." Krall, 125 Wn.2d at 148 (quoting State v. Huntzinger, 92 Wn.2d 128, 133, 594 P.2d 917 (1979)). The

⁶ There are some exceptions that do not apply in this case, but they involve the needs of other agencies who might work with DSHS on an investigation.

"prime consideration" remains "the intent of the legislature as reflected in its general, as well as its specific, legislation upon the particular subject." *Glover*, 2 Wn.2d at 170.

In *Rice*, the court went on to find that statutory language indicating a prosecutor "shall" file particular charges in particular circumstances was "directory" rather than mandatory, noting that there was no enforcement mechanism for non-compliance with the provision. *Rice* 174 Wn.2d at 897. The court pointed out that:

[T]he legislature sometimes intends to direct the actions of public officers, stating what they "shall" do in certain circumstances, without intending to impose any enforceable, legal obligations upon them.

Rice, 174 Wn.2d at 897.

As the Rice court concluded:

That the legislature did not identify any consequences resulting from a prosecutor's noncompliance with the challenged charging statutes supports reading those statutes as directory.

Rice, 174 Wn.2d at 897.

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